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Abstract.

This thesis is an examination of as many aspects of the
economic and social history of the sixteenth century Essex
village of Stock, as surviving records permit.

A survey of landholding and the complex manorial strucfure
in the village is followed by an analysis of agrarian activity
(arable and animal husbandry, market gardening and the markeling
of produce). Those engaged in non—agricdlturdl occupations are
studied, with special reference Lo those pursuing dual economic
roles.

Central to the economy of the village, was the important
brick, tile and pottery industry. Very little research has
hitherto been undertakén to show clay-based workers in their
economic and social setting in the sixteenth century. Methods of
production, marketing and .distribution, as well as the status of
this important group of men are examined. Over fifty clay-based
craftsmen are studied biographically.

Religious life and belief within the village are set against
a general background of heretical belief in Essex and interpreted
in terms of the influence of the resident clergy and the resident
noble landlords, the Catholic Petre family.

The mainté nance of law and order are studied, firstly
through internal manorial agencies (the Court Leet and the Court
of Civil Pleas) and secondly through the external or state
agencies of law and order. An attempt is made to measure the
importance of an efficient Court Leet and to appraise the role of
the Quarter Sessions qhd other courts in the affairs of the

village.
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Chapter One

Village England.

Introduction

A sixteenth—centurf village was small by modern standards.
It is often difficult to estimate its size with any degree of
accuracy, simply because the records needed for demographic
reconstruction have failed to survive into the twentieth century.
Of course, numbers living within villages and hamlets varied from
time to time and region to region, but it seems a fair assumption
that the majority of sixteenth century Englishmen lived for at
least some of their lives, in communities of between 100 and 300
people. In 1688, Gregory King estimated that seventy-four percent
of England's population lived in 'the villages and hamlets'.' A
century earlier the percentage was undoubtedly even higher.

Even in the twelfth and thirteenth centuries the English
village was never an isolated entity; a fine road network,
consisting of both Roman "highways and rougher, muddy tracks,
facilitated communications and joined tiny settlements to larger
marketing centres and county towns, and ultimately to the great
cities of England; Bristol, Norwich, York, and most importantly,
London. Elizabethan villéges were independent and self-sufficient
for many of their daily needs, but all were reliant on larger
centres which performed more specialized processing and marketing
activities for the villagers. A large village was distinguished
from a smaller one, not only by population size, but also by the
number and variety of proéeésing functions 1t possessed.

Often, especially in Eastern England, the village did not

correspond to a parish; parishes were rarely settlements or
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communities as such. Often several separate villages or hamlets
were to be found within one parish, each with its own identity.
Sometimes, as is the case here, a village community embraced two
parishes: half of the inhabitants worshipping in one church and
the rest attending a church lying outside the main area lof
seftlement. Likewise, a village did not often correspond to a
single manor, owned by one Lord. As in this survey, several
manors could encompass the houses, fields and commons of a
particular village. A viilage can best be defined as a community
of households surrounded by an area of cultivated land, woods and
Qaste; having a population made up of yeomen, husbandmen,
éraftsmen, labourers, m@n and children, some prosperous others
not. All members of the community worked, socialised and lived
together, often with a high degree of interdependence.

This thesis is an Attempt to recreate rural village life;
.perhaps one of the most important areas of study in the economic
And social history of Elizabethan England, simply because for the
vast majority of the populace at that time, village England was
the world to which they téelonged. Many previous studies have been
made within this field, often concentrating on just one area of
enquiry, such as agriculture, crime, poverty, industry and most
recently demography. Here the aim is to study a village communify
in many aspects; at work, at play and in relation to the world
outside: to see a microcosm of the Elizabethan Age. The village
under discussion is Stock or Harvard Stock (as it was most
commonly called in the sixteenth century) in Essex, and the
period of reconstruction of village life is from the death of
Henry VIII in 1547 until the year 1610.

The sources used f ér this study are of great variety and

abundance, embracing both those created by the manorial lord and
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those kept by the state. The central class of manorial records
are an extensive set of court rolls from four of the manors

within Stock and Buttsbury: Crondon, Imphey Hall, Fristling Hall

and Ing Ging Joybard Laundry alias Harvard Stock. The court of
Crondon was a court baron concerning itself principally with the

transfer of property. Likewise, the manors of Imphey and

Fristling. The court of Harvard Stock was a more interesting
phenomenon: a court leet with the right to hold a court of civil
pleas. The surviving court rolls are detailed below.

Crondon {(Court Baron) s

ERO D/DP M788 1551-1553 (1 membrane)

ERO D/DP M789 1554~-1558 (6 membranes)

ERO D/DP M790 1559-1578 (6 membranes)

ERO D/DP M791 1569-1576 (3 membranes)

ERO D/DP M792 1579-1600 (20 membranes)

Imphey Hall (Court Baron)

ERO D/DP M757 1561-1597 (20 membranes)

Fristling Hall (Court Baron)

Apart from court rolls:

ERO D/DP M720 1547-1553
ERO D/DP M721 1555-1557

ERO D/DP M722 1561-1602

Ing Ging Joyberd Laundry alias Harvard

ERO D/DP M746 1547-1553

ERO D/DP M747 1555-1558

ERO D/DP M748 1559-1602

rentals and surveys and maps survive

court papers,

(4 membranes)
(3 membranes)

(39 membranes)

Stock (Court Leet)

(2 membranes)

(6 membranes)

(43 membranes)

draft court rolls;

for some of these manors.
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The manorial lords, the Petre family kept extensive records of
deeds and leases. Most vital for this survey are 'The Lease Book
for Estates' (ERO D/DP E24) dated 1555-1568, and another entitled
'*The Petre Estate Book' (ERO D/DP E25) which contains leases
issued between 1572 and 1635. Also important to this study ‘are
the Petre household account books which concentrate on work
performed at the two Essex 'seats' of Ingatestone and Thorndon
Halls.

Extensive use has been made of the surviving wills of local
inhabitants which have been preserved by the Archdeaconry of
Essex and the Bishopric of London. Some of the Ecclesiastical
Court records of the Archdeacon of Essex survive for this period:
notably the Act Books (ERO D/AEW 1A-22), Visitation Books (ERO
D/AEV 1-3), Deposition Books (ERO D/AED 1-4) and a single
Excommunication Book <(ERO D/AEM 3). Also consulted were the
records of the various secular courts; the Essex Quarter
Sessions, the Assize and the Court of Queen's Bench.

Extant manuscript sources have been examined in conjunction
with a fieldwork survey of surviving topographic, landscape and
architectural features of the two parishes of Stock and Buttsbury
in an attempt to presenf as full a picture as possible of the

area during the Elizabethan era.

The Village of Stock: The Setting

Stock, even to this day, lies in a fairly wooded tract of
countryside. In the later sixteenth century the village was
surrounded on all sides by common land, woodland, pasture, arable
and waste. Just half a mile away lay a deer park of quite
considerable sl'ize, Créndon Park.? The agricultural land

surrounding the village appears to have been long enclosed, open
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field farming having been extremely uncommon in this part of
Essex as early as the thirteenth century. By the sixteenth
century one reads only ‘of closes and fields, there being no
mention of arable lan(i held in common or of strips for
cultivation. The villagers of Stock had long before the sixteeﬁth
century forsaken communal cultivation of the land, if in fact it
had ever existed, and the only rights which they held in common
were the rights to graze and gather in the heaths, woods and open
spaces surrounding the viliage. Place name evidence in the area
is indicative of clearing and assarting, and it is apparent that
such removal of woodland had taken place at an early date.® The
words °‘rydding’, 'leah', ‘wood', °‘stubbing’, ‘holt' and °‘stoc’
all appear frequently in field, farm and house names round and
about the village of Stock.

Stock village lay .within the two parishes of Stock and
Buttsbury, Yand was sited approximately six miles south west of
the important marketing and administrative centre of Elizabethan
Essex, the town of Chelmsford. Billericay, another market town,
lay only three miles to the south. Ingatestone and Ingatestone
Hall, the family home and administrative centre of the Petre
family, the manorial Lords and landowners of much property within
the parishes of Stock and Buttsbury, was just a vm:lle and a half
to the west. The great highway leading from London to Chelmsford
and Colchester, with its continuous throng of waggons, carts,
animals and horsemen, was just a few miles away. (see Map One).
The village was therefore in the fortunate position of having -
within easy reach several important markets for its agricultural
produce and craft manufactures. As will be shown, the inhabitants
profited from their geographical advantages. Evidence collected

from surviving documents suggests that they conducted fairly
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extensive and expanding trade networks with many other
communities during the sixteenth century. Prosperity appears to
have been the norm, rather than the exception for many of the
inhabitants of Stock throughout Elizabeth's reign, even though
national statistics have. indicated a decrease in real wages for
much of England's labouring population, especially during the
1590s.

The village population is extremely difficult to estimate,
though it appears to have been fairly equally divided between the
two parishes; that of Buttsbury, whose church was isolated to the
far west, and that of Stock, whose church formed part of the
nucleus of households which constituted the village of Stock. The
problem in demographic calculation arises because although the
parish registers for Stock go back to 1558, those for Buttsbury
do not begin until after the Restoration. The issue is further
complicated by the inhabitants of Crondon hamlet, whose lives
were inextricably bound up with the park and the village of
Stock. Historically, the manor and park of Crondon were a
detached part of the parish of Orsett, twelve miles to the south.
However, by the sixtetjznt.h century, evidence from a document
concerning a tithe dispute shows that the inhabitants of Crondon
frequently worshipped at the churches of both:- Stock and
Buttsbury, and occasionally at another parish church, West
Hanningfield; being only required to attend the church at Orsett
once a year.4 The peripatetic worshippers from Crondon appear in
many registers from parishes in the neighbourhood, especially
after 1580, when quarrels with the troublesome Rector of Stock,
William Pindar, caused many to shun his church.

Analysis of baptisms and calculations based on these figures

for baptisms show that the population of Stock was approximately
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330 during the eighth decade of the sixteenth century. A list of
every person paying tithes to the church of Buttsbury during the
1590s names sixty people. Multiplied by the number 4.5
(frequently used as an estimate of household size), this gives
Buttsbury a population of around 260. These figures combined
indicate a village with a population of 500 or more. The Lay
Subsidy return for 1544 lists 93 people paying the suSsidy. If
the same multiplier is used a population of approximately 420 can
be assumed. By 1671, 161vhouseholds were listed within Stock and
Buttsbury for Hearth Tai assesment (this includes households
exempt from payment due to poverty). If the multiplier 4.5 is
once again used, the total population 1living within the two
parishes by 1671, was 725. Interestingly the hearths are almost
equally divided between the two parishes; 82 in Stock and 79 in
But tsbury.

If these records and calculations are anywhere near correct,
then Stock during the secénd half of the sixteenth century, was a
very large village, infact almost the size of a small town in
Elizabethan England.

The viilage of Stock 1s perhaps a unique phenomenon in
sixteenth century studies. Not only was it a very large village,
but more interestingly it was an industrialised village with
apprenticeships, far-reaching marketing of finished products and
a place where sectors of the community were engaged in industrial
activity for at least part of the year. Most importaﬁtly the
industrial activity in which they were involved had nothing to do
with textiles, which ié what one immediately thinks of in
connection with industrial development in sixteenth century
Essex. The story of Stock is the story of clay and brickearth and

the processing of these two raw materials by the inhabitants. The

























































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































